Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ejogrb

Standards of Care in infertility in Europe

Christina I. Messini^a, Alexandros Daponte^a, George Anifandis^a, Tahir Mahmood^{b,c}, Ioannis E. Messinis^{a,c,*}

^a Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, School of Health Sciences, University of Thessaly, Larissa, Greece ^b Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Victoria Hospital, Kirkcaldy, Scotland, UK

^c European Board and College of Obstetrics & Gynaecology (EBCOG), Belgium

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 October 2016 Accepted 14 October 2016

Keywords: Infertility Evidence-based medicine Standards of Care EBCOG

ABSTRACT

Evidence-based medicine is the principal approach to medical practice. There are several debatable issues in infertility, which require clarification. Over the past 20 years, reliable methodology has been developed for the management of infertile couples. This includes high quality diagnostic and therapeutic procedures, which are applied in highly specialised infertility centres. The European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (EBCOG) has published Standards of Care for Women's Health in Europe, which should be the cornerstone for the clinicians and service providers in the European Union to establish common protocols within their centres. Each infertility treatment should result in the highest possible success rate and all appropriate measures for the patient's safety should be in place. The treatment protocols should minimise risk of complications, such as ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS). The current use of GnRH agonists to trigger final follicle maturation has provided the means for avoiding this syndrome. Additionally, multiple pregnancy rates are still high in assisted reproductive technology (ART). These rates should be reduced by the adoption of single embryo transfer during IVF treatment and by the proper monitoring of ovulation induction protocols. EBCOG Standards of Care for infertility and assisted conception treatment derived from the best available evidence should underpin the provision of high quality infertility services in European countries.

© 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

Int	oduction	206
Cliı	ical evidence	206
	Anovulation/ovulation induction	206
	GnRH agonist triggering vs. Human Chorionic Gonadotrophin (HCG)	206
	IVF vs. ICS1	206
	Intrauterine insemination (IUI)	
	GnRH agonists vs. GnRH antagonists	207
	LH supplementation	207
	Luteal phase support	207
	Blastocyst vs. cleavage stage embryo transfer	
	Endometrial scratching	
	Fibroids and polyps	207
	Endometriosis	
	Antioxidants	
	Androgens in poor responders	208
	Hvdrosalpinx	208

* Corresponding author at: Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, School of Health Sciences, University of Thessaly, 41110 Larissa, Greece. Fax: +30 2413501019.

E-mail address: messinis@med.uth.gr (I.E. Messinis).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2016.10.003 0301-2115/© 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.



Review





Fresh vs. frozen embryo transfer	r	
Summary of evidence		
Standards of Care		
Conclusions		
Funding		 209
Conflicts of interest		
References		

Introduction

Infertility is the inability of a couple to conceive after at least 12 months of regular unprotected intercourse. In the past, treatment of infertility was predominantly empirical, while nowadays, it is mainly delivered using evidence-based recommendations. In-vitro fertilisation (IVF) and intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) have dramatically changed the treatment of infertility. A proper infertility work-up guides the way towards an aetiological and cost-effective approach. For example, induction of ovulation is the first-line treatment in anovulatory infertility [1]. When infertility is related to tubal disease, the majority of the cases are now treated by IVF, in preference to the "hi-tech" microsurgery that used to be the method of choice in the past [2]. It should be noted, however, that overuse of IVF outside specific indications might not be a cost-effective procedure. Available algorithms and nomogrammes provide help to the clinicians in selecting the appropriate method for infertility treatment according to current evidence and technology. In this review, various debatable issues related to infertility management will be discussed in the context of an evidence-based approach.

Clinical evidence

Anovulation/ovulation induction

Anovulation is the cause of female infertility in about 25% of the cases. According to World Health Organization (WHO), anovulation is classified into four categories, i.e. hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism (WHO group I), normogonadotrophic hypogonadism (WHO group II–polycystic ovary syndrome-PCOS), hypergonadotrophic hypogonadism (WHO group III–ovarian insufficiency) and hyperprolactinaemia.

Ovulation induction is the best approach for treating infertility in all these cases except in those with ovarian insufficiency, which should be managed in the context of an IVF oocyte donation programme. Hyperprolactinaemia, either idiopathic or due to a pituitary adenoma, is treated with the use of dopaminergic agents.

For hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism, ovulation induction is attempted with the use of human gonadotrophins [3]. As both FSH and LH are required for normal folliculogenesis, these two gonadotrophins should be given together from the beginning of ovarian stimulation. Literature lacks prospective randomised trials and the evidence is derived only from old retrospective studies. According to these studies, multiple pregnancy rates are very high, exceeding 30% in the majority of them [1]. These rates can be reduced with proper monitoring, but prospective randomised trials are required. Pulsatile GnRH is an alternative treatment and it is used provided that the pituitary is intact. With that kind of treatment, multiple pregnancy rates are very low [4].

In WHO group II, a specific algorithm is used, based on the Thessaloniki consensus meeting on infertility management of PCOS organised by ESHRE/ASRM in 2007 [5]. First-line treatment is the use of the anti-oestrogenic compound, clomiphene citrate, given for up to 6 treatment cycles. In case of clomiphene failure or clomiphene resistance, a second-line treatment is applied including the use of low-dose protocols of FSH, i.e. the step-up and the step-down. Laparoscopic ovarian drilling competes with FSH as a second-line approach, but it is used only in the presence of specific indications. Alternative treatments include aromatase inhibitors, such as letrozole, but these drugs, although effective as first-line approach [6], are "off-label" for infertility treatment. Finally, the insulin sensitiser, metformin, is in use, but this is not considered an ovulation-inducing agent. Metformin, however, can be helpful only in clomiphene resistant patients in combination with clomiphene and before moving to a FSH low-dose protocol [7].

GnRH agonist triggering vs. Human Chorionic Gonadotrophin (HCG)

Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) can be a serious complication of ovarian stimulation for IVF. It can also occur during ovulation induction, but with proper monitoring and the application of low-dose FSH protocols, the incidence is very low. It has been shown that in IVF cycles, live birth rate increases in proportion to the number of collected oocytes [8]. Although the optimal number of oocytes for a safe and successful procedure has not been defined, with the use of mild ovarian stimulation protocols, a relatively small number of oocytes is available for collection, making OHSS a rare event. Nevertheless, in order to reduce the cost of repeated oocyte retrievals, the recovery of many oocytes in one shot and the creation of multiple embryos for transfer in subsequent frozen cycles have become a reality. Recent evidence derived from the prospective randomised clinical trials has shown that in hyperstimulated cycles, the use of a GnRH agonist instead of HCG for triggering final oocyte maturation dramatically reduce the incidence of OHSS [9]. Although luteal phase support may rescue the cycle under these conditions [10], cryopreservation of all embryos ("freeze all" technique) for transfer in subsequent frozen cycles is a safe option [11].

IVF vs. ICSI

IVF is a well-established method for the treatment of infertility. Although IVF was first introduced for the treatment of women with tubal factor infertility, very soon the list of indications was expanded to include cases that failed to achieve a pregnancy with more suitable methods. Patients with male factor infertility are now treated with ICSI. The indications of ICSI have also expanded to include non-male infertility as well as recurrent fertilisation failure during IVF treatment. A recent meta-analysis has shown that ICSI, as compared to IVF, increases the fertilisation rate in women with unexplained infertility, but the impact on pregnancy and live birth rates was not addressed [12]. In women with endometriosis, ICSI offers a higher fertilisation rate and a lower rate of total fertilisation failure compared with IVF but there was no difference in pregnancy and implantation rates [13]. Large prospective randomised trials are required to assess the role of ICSI in non-male infertility.

Intrauterine insemination (IUI)

Intrauterine insemination (IUI) is meant to overcome the problems related to decreased sperm potential. Various semen parameters affect the clinical outcome following IUI, but further prospective trials are needed [14]. In terms of the synchronisation technique of ovulation and IUI, little information exists to draw firm conclusions [15]. Preliminary analysis of published studies has demonstrated that treatment with gonadotrophins of men suffering from idiopathic subfertility may increase the possibility of a pregnancy and live birth [16]. However, large prospective randomised trials are needed to investigate this matter further. In unexplained infertility, although IVF provides a higher live birth rate than IUI in unstimulated cycles, there is no conclusive evidence that IVF is better than IUI plus gonadotrophins or IUI plus clomiphene [17].

GnRH agonists vs. GnRH antagonists

GnRH analogues (agonists or antagonists) are used during ovarian stimulation for IVF in order to prevent the occurrence of premature LH surge. The agonists are very effective in preventing the LH surge [18], while with the antagonists several LH peaks may take place during the ovarian stimulation [19]. Despite this, clinical outcome does not differ significantly between agonists and antagonists. Earlier studies had shown a 5% difference in live birth rates in favour of the agonists. Nevertheless, recent metaanalyses have shown that, although the pregnancy rate can be higher with the agonists, the live birth rate is similar [20,21]. In all studies, the comparison has been made between a long GnRH agonist protocol and a GnRH antagonist protocol (always short). The clinical pregnancy rate seems to be higher in the long GnRH agonists protocol than the short protocol (moderate quality evidence) [22]. In terms of OHSS, there is evidence of a significantly lower incidence in the short antagonist protocol as compared to long agonist protocol [23]. The recent Cochrane systematic review [21] suggests that the risk reduction of OHSS without reducing the likelihood of achieving live birth with the antagonists is moderate.

LH supplementation

Pituitary LH is very important for normal folliculogenesis. This hormone contributes to normal follicle maturation during the follicular phase of the cycle by stimulating androgen production from the theca cells and supporting further growth of the selected dominant follicle. In superovulated cycles for IVF, supra-physiological concentrations of oestradiol suppress the secretion of LH from the pituitary via the negative feedback [24]. As a result, serum LH levels are markedly reduced. It has been shown that in unselected population of women undergoing IVF treatment, supplementation with exogenous LH during ovarian stimulation with FSH does not have any beneficial effect and is not recommended [25,26]. In contrast, in poor ovarian responders, evidence has been provided that clinical pregnancy and ongoing pregnancy rates increase with the addition of exogenous LH, but the live birth rate is not affected [27]. Since the evidence is of low quality, further randomised trials are needed. The only group of women requiring LH together with FSH for ovarian stimulation is that of hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism [28].

Luteal phase support

Normally, after ovulation, the formation of the corpus luteum takes place, which produces progesterone. The role of this hormone is to prepare endometrial receptivity for embryo implantation. LH is the main luteotrophic hormone in women. During assisted reproduction, the ovarian stimulation process via the high concentrations of oestradiol and progesterone suppresses LH levels leading to a defective luteal phase. Thus, medical support for this phase is needed [29]. Progesterone administration during the luteal phase results in an improvement of live birth or ongoing pregnancy rates as compared to placebo. Also, administration of HCG increases significantly the live birth rate and ongoing pregnancy rate than placebo. The addition of oestrogen to progesterone does not provide any benefit. The administration of a GnRH agonist together with progesterone seems to improve the outcomes. Oral dydrogesterone is as effective as vaginal progesterone [30,31], thus the route of progesterone administration is not associated with an improvement in outcomes.

Blastocyst vs. cleavage stage embryo transfer

Embryo transfer is performed either at an early stage during cleavage (days 2–3) or at the blastocyst stage (days 5–6). However, it is not robustly known which of the two stages described above provides better clinical outcome as the most recent Cochrane systematic review has concluded that the evidence level is low with fresh embryo transfer at the blastocyst stage, and the live birth rate is significantly higher than at cleavage stage. It was suggested that if 29% of women would achieve live birth after transfer at cleavage stage, the rate of live birth after blastocyst transfer would be between 32% and 42% [32]. This difference, however, did not seem to influence the cumulative pregnancy and live birth rates. Because of the low level of evidence, large randomised controlled trials are needed.

Endometrial scratching

This novel approach to the management of recurrent implantation failure suggests that injuring the endometrium during the cycle preceding the embryo transfer cycle results in a 70% higher possibility of achieving a pregnancy as compared to no treatment or more likely to achieve a pregnancy as compared to endometrium evaluation only with the hysteroscope [33]. In asymptomatic women, hysteroscopy performed prior to their first IVF cycle increases the likelihood of pregnancy and live birth [34]. Nevertheless, a recent meta-analysis has provided very low or mederate quality evidence that hysteroscopy performed before an IVF/ICSI treatment in women with no uterine abnormalities increases pregnancy and live birth rates [35]. Large prospective randomised trials are needed.

Fibroids and polyps

Fibroids, also called myomas or leiomyomas, are the commonest tumours of the uterus. Their role in infertility is still unclear. Removal of submucus fibroids at hysteroscopy will increase the possibility for a successful outcome of pregnancy [36]. The same was also true for endometrial polyps before IUI [36]. As regards to women with intramural fibroids not distorting the endometrial cavity, they tend to have lower pregnancy and live birth rates following IVF as compared to women without fibroids [37]. Even tumours $\leq 4 \text{ cm}$ in diameter may affect the outcome of treatment especially if the distance of the tumour from the endometrium is $\leq 1 \text{ cm}$, then the implantation rate is lower [38]. Nevertheless, there is no evidence to recommend removal of intramural fibroids in women with otherwise unexplained infertility and intact endometrium. On the contrary, there is evidence (II-2D) against myomectomy in such cases regardless of the size of the fibroid [39]. Treatment should possibly be individualised (III-C).

Endometriosis

Endometriosis is common in infertile women. The presence of endometriosis of stage I/II is associated with decreased fertilisation and of stage III/IV with decreased implantation and pregnancy rates [40].

However, a recent meta-analysis showed no difference in live birth rate and in clinical pregnancy rate between women with and without endometriosis. This remained unchanged after surgery, although the number of oocytes retrieved decreased and the cycle cancellation rate was increased in women with endometriosis undergoing IVF treatment [41]. Whether endometriomas should be removed before IVF is a matter of debate. Surgical excision of endometriomas further reduces ovarian reserves as assessed by antimullerian hormone (AMH) measurement and antral follicle count [42–44], and surgery does not improve IVF outcomes [45]. However, it is recommended that the endometriomas >4 cm in diameter should be removed as the pregnancy rate following ovarian cystectomy is increased [46].

Antioxidants

Oxidative stress may have an impact on sperm quality and possibly on sperm fertilising capacity. There is low quality evidence to suggest that the use of antioxidants by subfertile males may increase clinical pregnancy and live birth rates [47]. Similarly in females, the evidence is of very low quality, of no increase in pregnancy and live birth rates when antioxidants are used [48].

Androgens in poor responders

Androgens (DHEA or testosterone) are physiological precursors of oestrogens during ovarian steroidogenesis. In poor responders undergoing IVF, pre-treatment with testosterone or DHEA may improve live birth rate but the evidence is moderate [49]. A recent randomised clinical trial showed that in poor responders, testosterone during ovarian stimulation in a long agonist protocol failed to increase the number of oocyte-cumulus complexes as compared to no treatment [50]. Further randomised trials are needed to clarify the issue.

Hydrosalpinx

Hydrosalpinx may have a deleterious effect on embryo implantation. Surgical intervention, either as proximal tubal occlusion or salpingectomy, has a beneficial effect on subsequent IVF treatment [51]. Tubal occlusion seems to be more effective than salpingectomy. Hysteroscopic application of intratubal devices, such as Essure, is also effective but inferior to laparoscopic salpingectomy in terms of ongoing pregnancy rate [52]. The Essure tubal occlusion hysteroscopically increases the miscarriage rate as compared to other interventions [53].

Fresh vs. frozen embryo transfer

Ovarian hyperstimulation for IVF induces marked changes in the endocrinology of the menstrual cycle, which can have an impact on endometrium maturation. This may influence clinical outcome after embryo transfer. In a recent meta-analysis, it was shown that clinical pregnancy and ongoing pregnancy rates were higher in cycles with frozen as compared to cycles with fresh embryo transfer [54].

Summary of evidence

In this review, current infertility management based on the most recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses has been presented. These reviews include evidence, mainly derived from randomised clinical trials, but they also include retrospective, nonrandomised studies or those with small number of cases. Although the number of meta-analyses is increasing rapidly, the evidence can occasionally be of low quality or inadequate to provide valid information. Additionally, different meta-analyses may provide different or even opposite results on the same subject.

This review provides adequate evidence in some areas such as: the use of GnRH agonists instead of HCG for triggering final oocyte maturation, the clinical effectiveness of GnRH agonists and antagonists, the luteal phase support, the effectiveness of IVF and ICSI, the use of gonadotrophins for ovulation induction, the surgical occlusion of the tubes/removal in women with hydrosalpinges, the transfer of frozen-thawed embryos etc. However, there are unresolved issues including the role of endometrial scratching, the surgical management of endometriosis, the management of fibroids and endometrial polyps, the pretreatment with androgens in poor responders, the supplementation with LH in poor responders and the use of antioxidants for the management of male or female infertility.

Successful infertility treatment, apart from being cost-effective, should also provide a high success rate, while all safety measures should be taken. Poorly regulated assisted conception treatments, IVF and ICSI together with ovulation induction can be dangerous for the patient, as they can result in serious complications: the two most important complications of ovarian stimulation are OHSS and multiple pregnancies. The evidence provided above indicates that this syndrome can be markedly reduced when final oocyte maturation is triggered via the administration of a GnRH agonist instead of HCG [9]. Cryopreservation of all embryos and arrangement of embryo transfer in subsequent natural cycles seem to be effective [11]. In such cycles, endometrium maturation is expected to be closer to the physiology and better synchronised with the stage of embryo development, while in hyperstimulated cycles endometrium maturation is disturbed, advanced or even occasionally delayed [55]. Furthermore, the transfer of cryopreservedthawed embryos results in higher clinical and ongoing pregnancy rates than the transfer of fresh embryos [54].

Multiple pregnancies are a common complication during IVF treatment [56]. It is evident that the occurrence of multiple pregnancies is directly related to the number of embryos transferred, since the possibility of homo-zygotic twins or triplets after single embryo transfer is very low [57,58]. Although a twin pregnancy could be acceptable as saving the patient from multiple IVF attempts and the burden of more than one pregnancy, there are several disadvantages particularly related to prematurity, which may not make it a cost-effective solution [59,60]. Within Europe, there are no uniform policies on the number of embryos which can be transferred. EBCOG's position statement [61] recommends single embryo transfer as it has been shown that the transfer of one fresh embryo in one cycle and one cryopreserved embryo in a subsequent cycle, if required, gives the same live birth rate as the transfer of two embryos at the same time [62,63]. Based on the fact that cryopreservation via the use of vitrification is a very efficient methodology, single embryo transfer is an effective procedure for the benefit of the mother and the baby and it is undoubtedly recommended [61].

The chance of the delivery of a healthy baby is almost five times more likely with single embryo transfer. Multiple pregnancies can also occur following ovulation induction in women with anovulatory infertility [64]. It is therefore recommended that closer monitoring of the ovarian stimulation with the use of vaginal ultrasound scans and serum oestradiol measurement together with strict criteria for the HCG administration be implemented uniformally. The situation is different in cases of anovulation related to PCOS, in which the use of low-dose FSH protocols has restricted multiple pregnancies to less than 10%, which are mostly twins [65,66].

Standards of Care

The European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (EBCOG) is a representative body of 37 European National Societies of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. EBCOG is responsible for streamlining post-graduate training and also sets Standards of Care in Europe. EBCOG launched two documents describing Standards of Care in Obstetrics & Gynaecology, including infertility [67]. The purpose of setting standards is to streamline the care of women and reduce variation in the quality of care across Europe. Each standard is supported by an auditable indicator to collect standardised data for inter centre and intra/inter country comparison for defined outcomes. While it is not possible to reproduce the full text of "EBCOG Standards of Care for Infertility and Assisted Conception— Chapter 19", we are highlighting an abbreviated version [67].

The standards bring clarity about the rights of the couple, openness to information as regards to treatment choices available, couple focused treatment plan, access to counselling, and the availability of data on success rates for each treatment modality in an easily understandable language, without the use of medical jargon.

The standards also expect that all principles of clinical governance should be adhered to as regards confidentiality, record keeping, laboratory facilities, gamete handling and evidence based protocols. The laboratory should meet all the standards as set out in the European Union Tissues and Cells Directives (first Directive 2004/23/EC).

EBCOG further recommends that the process, specific protocols for investigation and treatments for assisted conception including ovulation induction should be in place. Treatment protocols should be based on evidence, and clinical outcome should be regularly collected and reviewed in the context of an audit process. Each centre should use protocols to avoid complications of treatment, such as OHSS and multiple pregnancies. Single embryo transfer must be considered by all European IVF Centres. Furthermore, as regards to gametes donation: legal, social and cultural issues should be taken into account with the appropriate professional counselling.

The document also provides guidance on the staffing of the treatment centres and also sets out "Training Standards" for the future generation of specialists in Obstetrics and Gynaecology. Although the standards should be the basis for the provision of high quality infertility services, there should be flexibility and on occasions, individualisation of management may apply.

Conclusions

There remains considerable inequitable access and variable outcomes in the area of assisted conception and induction of ovulation. We have provided evidence in all areas of clinical practice. We are seriously concerned about the higher rates of multiple pregnancies in many hot spots within Europe. EBCOG strongly believes that infertility care provision should be based on evidence derived from prospective randomised clinical trials. Premature deliveries are associated with huge costs for already over stretched local advanced neonatal services and to the society [68]. EBCOG strongly advocates that emerging evidence should lead to the development of proper guidelines for the management of infertility, in order to not only reduce treatment related complications but also to address the huge challenge of multiple pregnancies [61]. EBCOG's recommendations should be used to develop common standards of infertility care for all European countries where comparative data can be collected and bench marked. Finally, EBCOG recommends that more appropriately sized randomised clinical trials, funded by the European Union, are needed to delineate the role of various conditions in disturbing reproductive function and to provide the means for their treatment.

Funding

The production of this article was not funded.

Conflicts of interest

No conflicts of interest for this article. None of the authors received any financial support for this work.

References

- Messinis IE. Ovulation induction: a mini review. Hum Reprod 2005;20:2688– 97
- [2] Winston RM. Progress in tubal surgery. Clin Obstet Gynaecol 1981;8:653-79.
- [3] Messinis IE, Bergh T, Wide L. The importance of human chorionic gonadotropin support of the corpus luteum during human gonadotropin therapy in women with anovulatory infertility. Fertil Steril 1988;50:31–5.
- [4] Filicori M, Flamigni C, Meriggiola MC, et al. Ovulation induction with pulsatile gonadotropin-releasing hormone: technical modalities and clinical perspectives. Fertil Steril 1991;56:1–13.
- [5] Thessaloniki ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. Consensus on infertility treatment related to polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum Reprod 2008;23:462–77.
- [6] Legro RS, Brzyski RG, Diamond MP, et al. Letrozole versus clomiphene for infertility in the polycystic ovary syndrome. Reproductive Medicine Network. N Engl J Med 2014;371:119–29.
- [7] Abu Hashim H. Twenty years of ovulation induction with metformin for PCOS; what is the best available evidence? Reprod Biomed Online 2016;32:44–53.
- [8] Sunkara SK, Rittenberg V, Raine-Fenning N, Bhattacharya S, Zamora J, Coomarasamy A. Association between the number of eggs and live birth in IVF treatment: an analysis of 400135 treatment cycles. Hum Reprod 2011;26:1768–74.
- [9] Youssef MA, Van der Veen F, Al-Inany HG, et al. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist versus HCG for oocyte triggering in antagonist-assisted reproductive technology. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;31(October (10)): CD008046, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008046.pub4.
- [10] Iliodromiti S, Blockeel C, Tremellen KP, et al. Consistent high clinical pregnancy rates and low ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome rates in high-risk patients after GnRH agonist triggering and modified lutealsupport: a retrospective multicentre study. Hum Reprod 2013;28:2529–36.
- [11] Engmann L, Benadiva C, Humaidan P. GnRH agonist trigger for the induction of oocyte maturation in GnRH antagonist IVF cycles: a SWOT analysis. Reprod Biomed Online 2016;32:274–85.
- [12] Johnson LN, Sasson IE, Sammel MD, Dokras A. Does intracytoplasmic sperm injection improve the fertilization rate and decrease the total fertilization failure rate in couples with well-defined unexplained infertility? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril 2013;100:704–11.
- [13] Komsky-Elbaz A, Raziel A, Friedler S, et al. Conventional IVF versus ICSI in sibling oocytes from couples with endometriosis and normozoospermic semen. J Assist Reprod Genet 2013;30:251–7.
- [14] Ombelet W, Dhont N, Thijssen A, Bosmans E, Kruger T. Semen quality and prediction of IUI success in male subfertility: a systematic review. Reprod Biomed Online 2014;28:300–9.
- [15] Cantineau AE, Janssen MJ, Cohlen BJ, Allersma T. Synchronised approach for intrauterine insemination in subfertile couples. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;21(December (12)):CD006942, <u>doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858</u>. CD006942.pub3.
- [16] Attia AM, Abou-Setta AM, Al-Inany HG. Gonadotrophins for idiopathic male factor subfertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;23(August (8)): CD005071, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005071.pub4.
- [17] Pandian Z, Gibreel A, Bhattacharya S. In vitro fertilisation for unexplained subfertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;19(November (11)):CD003357, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003357.pub4.
- [18] Maheshwari A, Gibreel A, Siristatidis CS, Bhattacharya S. Gonadotrophinreleasing hormone agonist protocols for pituitary suppression in assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011;10(August (8)):CD006919, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006919.pub3.
- [19] Messinis E, Loutradis D, Domali E, et al. Alternate day and daily administration of GnRH antagonist may prevent premature luteinization to a similar extent during FSH treatment. Hum Reprod 2005;20:3192–7.

- [20] Xiao JS, Su CM, Zeng XT. Comparisons of GnRH antagonist versus GnRH agonist protocol in supposed normal ovarian responders undergoing IVF: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014;9:e106854.
- [21] Al-Inany HG, Youssef MA, Ayeleke RO, Brown J, Lam WS, Broekmans FJ. Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone antagonists for assisted reproductive technology. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;(April (4)):4:CD001750, <u>doi:</u> http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001750.pub4.
- [22] Siristatidis CS, Gibreel A, Basios G, Maheshwari A, Bhattacharya S. Gonadotrophin-releasing hormoneagonist protocols for pituitary suppression in assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;9(November (11)): CD006919, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006919.pub4.
- [23] Toftager M, Bogstad J, Bryndorf T. Risk of severe ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in GnRH antagonist versus GnRH agonist protocol: RCT including 1050 first IVF/ICSI cycles. Hum Reprod 2016;31:1253–64.
- [24] Messinis IE, Milingos S, Zikopoulos K, Hasiotis G, Seferiadis K, Lolis D. Luteinizing hormone response to gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in normal women undergoing ovulation induction with urinary or recombinant follicle stimulating hormone. Hum Reprod 1998;13:2415–20.
- [25] Kolibianakis EM, Kalogeropoulou L, Griesinger G, et al. Among patients treated with FSH and GnRH analogues for in vitro fertilization, is the addition of recombinant LH associated with the probability of live birth? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update 2007;13:445–52.
- [26] NyboeAndersen A, Humaidan P, Fried G, et al. Recombinant LH supplementation to recombinant FSH during the final days of controlled ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization. A multicentre, prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Hum Reprod 2008;23:427–34.
- [27] Lehert P, Kolibianakis EM, Venetis CA, et al. Recombinant human folliclestimulating hormone (r-hFSH) plus recombinant luteinizing hormone versus r-hFSH alone for ovarian stimulation during assisted reproductive technology: systematic review and meta-analysis. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2014;12:17.
- [28] Shoham Z, Mannaerts B, Insler V, Coelingh-Bennink H. Induction of follicular growth using recombinant human follicle-stimulating hormone in two volunteer women with hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Fertil Steril 1993;59:738–42.
- [29] van der Linden M, Buckingham K, Farquhar C, Kremer JA, Metwally M. Luteal phase support for assisted reproduction cycles. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;7(July (7)):CD009154, <u>doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.</u> <u>CD009154.pub3.</u>
- [30] Ganesh A, Chakravorty N, Mukherjee R, Goswami S, Chaudhury K, Chakravarty B. Comparison of oral dydrogestrone with progesterone gel and micronized progesterone for luteal support in 1,373 women undergoing in vitro fertilization: a randomized clinical study. Fertil Steril 2011;95:1961–5.
- [31] Tomic V, Tomic J, Klaic DZ, Kasum M, Kuna K. Oraldydrogesterone versus vaginal progesterone gel in the luteal phase support: randomized controlled trial. Eur | Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2015;186:49–53.
- [32] Glujovsky D, Blake D, Farquhar C, Bardach A. Cleavage stage versus blastocyst stage embryo transfer in assisted reproductive technology. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;30(June (6)):CD002118, <u>doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/</u> 14651858.CD002118.pub5.
- [33] Potdar N, Gelbaya T, Nardo LG. Endometrial injury to overcome recurrent embryo implantation failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Reprod Biomed Online 2012;25:561–71.
- [34] Pundir J, Pundir V, Omanwa K, Khalaf Y, El-Toukhy T. Hysteroscopy prior to the first IVF cycle: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Reprod Biomed Online 2014;28:151–61.
- [35] Di Spiezio Sardo A, Di Carlo C, Minozzi S, et al. Efficacy of hysteroscopy in improving reproductive outcomes of infertile couples: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update 2016;22:479–96.
- [36] Bosteels J, Kasius J, Weyers S, Broekmans FJ, Mol BW, D'Hooghe TM. Hysteroscopy for treating subfertility associated with suspected major uterine cavity abnormalities. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;21(February (2)): CD009461, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009461.pub3.
 [37] Sunkara SK, Khairy M, El-Toukhy T, Khalaf Y, Coomarasamy A. The effect of
- [37] Sunkara SK, Khairy M, El-Toukhy T, Khalaf Y, Coomarasamy A. The effect of intramural fibroids without uterine cavity involvement on the outcome of IVF treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod 2010;25:418– 29.
- [38] Lu N, Wang Y, Su YC, Sun YP, Guo YH. Effects of the distance between small intramural uterine fibroids and the endometrium on the pregnancy outcomes of in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2015;79:62–8.
- [**39**] Carranza-Mamane B, Havelock J, Hemmings R, et al. The management of uterine fibroids in women with otherwise unexplained infertility. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2015;37:277–88.
- [40] Harb HM, Gallos ID, Chu J, Harb M, Coomarasamy A. The effect of endometriosis on in vitro fertilisation outcome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BJOG 2013;120:1308–20.
- [41] Hamdan M, Dunselman G, Li TC, Cheong Y. The impact of endometrioma on IVF/ICSI outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update 2015;21:809–25.
- [42] Shah DK, Mejia RB, Lebovic DI. Effect of surgery for endometrioma on ovarian function. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2014;21:203–9.
- [43] Muzii L, Di Tucci C, Di Feliciantonio M, Marchetti C, Perniola G, Panici PB. The effect of surgery for endometrioma on ovarian reserve evaluated by antral follicle count: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod 2014;29:2190–8.
- [44] Goodman LR, Goldberg JM, Flyckt RL, Gupta M, Harwalker J, Falcone T. Effect of surgery on ovarian reserve in women with endometriomas, endometriosis and

controls. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2016(May (27)), doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ajog.2016.05.029 pii: S0002-9378(16)30243-5 [Epub ahead of print].

- [45] Keyhan S, Hughes C, Price T, Muasher S. An update on surgical versus expectant management of ovarian endometriomas in infertile women. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:204792, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/204792 [Epub 2015 July 9].
- [46] Rizk B, Turki R, Lotfy H, et al. Surgery for endometriosis-associated infertility: do we exaggerate the magnitude of effect? Facts Views Vis ObGyn 2015;7:109– 18.
- [47] Showell MG, Mackenzie-Proctor R, Brown J, Yazdani A, Stankiewicz MT, Hart RJ. Antioxidants for male subfertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;12: CD007411, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007411.pub3 [Epub 2014 December 15].
- [48] Showell MG, Brown J, Clarke J, Hart RJ. Antioxidants for female subfertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;5(August (8)):CD007807, doi:http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD007807.pub2.
- [49] Nagels HE, Rishworth JR, Siristatidis CS, Kroon B. Androgens (dehydroepiandrosterone or testosterone) for women undergoing assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;26(November (11)):CD009749, doi:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009749.pub2.
- [50] Bosdou JK, Venetis CA, Dafopoulos K, et al. Transdermal testosterone pretreatment in poor responders undergoing ICSI: a randomized clinical trial. Hum Reprod 2016;31:977–85.
- [51] Tsiami A, Chaimani A, Mavridis D, Siskou M, Assimakopoulos E, Sotiriadis A. Surgical treatment for hydrosalpinx prior to IVF-ET: a network meta-analysis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016(February), doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/uog.15900 [Epub ahead of print].
 [52] Dreyer K, Lier MC, Emanuel MH, et al. Hysteroscopic proximal tubal occlusion
- [52] Dreyer K, Lier MC, Emanuel MH, et al. Hysteroscopic proximal tubal occlusion versus laparoscopic salpingectomy as a treatment for hydrosalpinges prior to IVF or ICSI: an RCT. Hum Reprod 2016(May) pii: dew050 [Epub ahead of print].
- [53] Barbosa MW, Sotiriadis A, Papatheodorou SI, Mijatovic V, Nastri CO, Martins WP. High miscarriage rate in women submitted to Essure for hydrosalpinx before embryo transfer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016(May), <u>doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/uog.15960 [Epub</u> ahead of print].
- [54] Roque M, Lattes K, Serra S, et al. Fresh embryo transfer versus frozen embryo transfer in in vitro fertilization cycles: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril 2013;99:156–62.
- [55] Bourgain C, Devroey P. The endometrium in stimulated cycles for IVF. Hum Reprod Update 2003;9:515–22.
- [56] EuropeanIVF-Monitoring Consortium (EIM), European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE), Kupka MS, et al. Assisted reproductive technology in Europe, 2011: results generated from European registers by ESHRE. Hum Reprod 2016;31:233–48.
- [57] Zhu JL, Basso O, Obel C, Christensen K, Olsen J, Danish National Birth Cohort. Infertility, infertility treatment and twinning: the Danish National Birth Cohort. Hum Reprod 2007;22:1086–90.
- [58] Saravelos SH, Zhang T, Chung JP, et al. Monochorionic quadramniotic and triamniotic pregnancies following single embryo transfers: two case reports and a review of the literature. J Assist Reprod Genet 2016;33:27–32.
- [59] Sazonova A, Källen K, Thurin-Kjellberg A, Wennerholm UB, Bergh C. Neonatal and maternal outcomes comparing women undergoing two in vitro fertilization (IVF) singleton pregnancies and women undergoing one IVF twin pregnancy. Fertil Steril 2013;99:731–7.
- [60] Gleicher N, Bard DH. Mistaken advocacy against twin pregnancies following IVF. J Assist Reprod Genet 2013;30:575–9.
- [61] European Board and College of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. EBCOG position paper on IVF treatment and single Embryo Transfer 2014–EBCOG position paper number 1 (WWW.ebcog.eu). https://www.ebcog.org/index.php? option=com_content&view=article&id=13&Itemid=258.
- [62] Pandian Z, Marjoribanks J, Ozturk O, Serour G, Bhattacharya S. Number of embryos for transfer following in vitro fertilisation or intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;29(July (7)):CD003416, doi:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003416,pub4.
 [63] McLernon DJ, Harrild K, Bergh C, et al. Clinical effectiveness of elective single
- [63] McLernon DJ, Harrild K, Bergh C, et al. Clinical effectiveness of elective single versus double embryo transfer: meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. BMJ 2010;341:c6945.
- [64] Burgués S, Sanish Collaborative Grou on Female Hyogonadotrohic Hyogonadism. The effectiveness and safety of recombinant human LH to support follicular development induced by recombinant human FSH in WHO group I anovulation: evidence from a multicentre study in Spain. Hum Reprod 2001;16:2525–32.
- [65] Messinis IE, Milingos SD. Current and future status of ovulation induction in polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum Reprod Update 1997;3:235–53.
- [66] Homburg R, Howles CM. Low-dose FSH therapy for anovulatory infertility associated with polycystic ovary syndrome: rationale, results, reflections and refinements. Hum Reprod Update 1999;5:493–9.
- [67] European Board and College of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. Standards for infertility and assisted conception—Standard 19. In: Standards of Care for Women's health in Europe—Gynaecology Services 2014 (WWW.ebcog.eu). https://www.ebcog.org/index.php?view=list&slug=standard-of-care&option=com_docman&layout=table<emid=181.
- [68] Zeitlin J, Szamotulska K, Drewniak N, et al. Preterm birth time trends in Europe: a study of 19 countries. BJOG 2013;120:1356–65.